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SUMMARY  
 
The history of Bromfield Priory Gatehouse falls into three main periods. The first 
of these is medieval, and to it belongs most of the lower, stone, part of the 
building: the arch itself and the sides of the gate passage, and the walls to the 
left, or north, of it. The walls south of the gate arch are later, but may contain 
medieval masonry - narrow windows, or loops, in the gate passage show that 
there were originally rooms both sides of it. 
 
This first gatehouse, possibly of just one storey, guarded the entrance to a small 
Benedictine priory beside the church of St Mary. There had been a religious 
community at Bromfield since before the Norman Conquest, which in 1155 
became a priory subject to St Peter's Abbey in Gloucester. The gatehouse was 
not built for another two centuries after that, however: the design of the arch and 
the loops in the gate passage can be dated roughly to the mid-14th century. It 
probably replaced an earlier gatehouse. On either side of it there would have been 
a stone wall or a timber stockade. With this, and with the two rivers (the Onny 
and the Teme) which join east of the church, forming a narrow promontory 
between them, the priory site was a very secure one. 
 
Bromfield Priory was dissolved in 1538. Its buildings were acquired by Charles 
Foxe who turned them into a house for himself. The gatehouse continued to 
preside over its entrance, and before 1600 it was enlarged by the addition of a 
timber-framed upper storey. This formed a single large room, the present living 
room, which was probably reached by an outside stair on the north-east corner. 
The gatehouse was smaller then than it is now, consisting of just the northern 
two thirds. Eighteenth century views also show it to have had two windows on 
the west side, a roof of slightly flatter pitch, and no chimney. 
 
One reason for enlarging the gatehouse was undoubtedly to impress. A fashion 
for building ornamental gatehouses began in the early Tudor period, and was still 
going strong among the country gentlemen of Shropshire and neighbouring 
counties until well after 1600. There was obviously an advantage, too, in having 
the entrance to your house watched over, even in relatively peaceful days; while 
a good strong pair of doors could be closed in times of unrest. 
 
At the same time, no one put up a large room intending to leave it empty. The 
upper room at Bromfield is thought to have served as a courtroom, where the 
manorial court was held and local disputes settled. Records of the manorial court 
in Bromfield continue until 1770. If it was indeed held in the gatehouse, its 
ending would explain why the building was abandoned after that, being shown in 
a state of picturesque decay by watercolourist of the 1790s. 
 
Then, in 1836, as part of a general round of improvement in the village, the 
gatehouse was restored and enlarged again, this time to serve as the village 
school and teacher's cottage. The courtroom became the main schoolroom, 
reached by a stair at the north end: the low rooms there were tall enough for 
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children's cloakrooms. At the south end, a three storey addition was made, with 
a classroom on the top floor, and rooms for a teacher below. The oriel window on 
the west front, the chimney, and the decorative finials on the gables were all 
added at this time, as were the chimneypiece and cupboards inside, made up 
from an assortment of Jacobean and later carving. 
 
In 1895 the school moved to a new building. The south end became an estate 
cottage, and the main room became a parish reading and recreation room. 
Although still used occasionally in the 1970s, the gatehouse was really by then in 
search of a new use once again. A solution was found when in 1990, the 
gatehouse was leased by the Plymouth estate to the Landmark Trust, a charity 
which specialises in the repair of historic buildings. 
 
 
The Repair of the Gatehouse 
 
The Landmark Trust not only repairs buildings, but also secures their future by 
making it possible for people to stay in them for holidays. This use provides an 
income to maintain them, while allowing them to be enjoyed by a wide variety of 
people, who might not otherwise have a chance to live and sleep in an historic 
building. The gatehouse is now let to parties of up to five people, for periods 
ranging from a weekend to three weeks. 
 
Before that was possible, the building had to be put back in good order. While 
some repairs had been carried out in the 1970s by the Plymouth estate, more 
work was needed, particularly on the Elizabethan timber frame, some parts of 
which were badly decayed. The roof also needed attention. This meant stripping 
off the tiles to repair the structure beneath, before relaying the tiles. To repair the 
framing of the walls, the brick panels between the timbers had all to be taken 
out. New oak was then pieced in, preserving as much of the old wood as 
possible. We could then have replaced the bricks with lath and plaster, which is 
what was there originally, but there were several arguments against this, both 
practical and historical. Not only does brick mean a warmer building, but the 
gatehouse today owes its character as much to the nineteenth century 
restoration as to its Elizabethan builder. There seemed little point in winding the 
clock back to a past which no longer exists. 
 
Inside the gatehouse, some minor alterations were needed to make the building 
work more easily in its new use. The main room would become the main living 
room, with bedrooms and bathrooms in the cottage at the south end. However, 
when the school closed in 1895, the door between the main room and the 
cottage was blocked up. This was now reopened. At the same time, it was 
decided that the low rooms at the north end should be left as they were, and 
would not form part of the accommodation. To make space for a kitchen at the 
north end of the main room, it was decided to floor over the stair at this end, 
leaving just a trapdoor in case access was ever needed. 
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After being redecorated inside, and limewashed outside in the traditional way, the 
gatehouse was ready for furnishing in March 1993. The work had been 
supervised by the Shrewsbury architects, Arrol and Snell, and carried out by 
builders from Herefordshire, LJ. Preece and Son.  English Heritage gave a grant 
for the repairs. While these were in progress, the opportunity was taken to learn 
a little more about the building. Richard Morriss of the Hereford Archaeology Unit 
did a brief survey of the building which confirmed the theory that the timber 
frame of the upper room is sixteenth century in date. It also revealed that the 
design of its roof trusses is highly unusual - no others like it have been seen in 
the area. So there is still more to learn in the future. 
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Bromfield Priory Gatehouse 

 

The gatehouse at Bromfield is familiar to many explorers of Shropshire, and a 

number of people wrote to the Landmark Trust in the 1970s and '80s, suggesting 

that it was a building in need of help.  At that time, Lord Plymouth, to whose 

family the gatehouse has belonged since the 18th century, intended that the 

estate would repair and convert the building itself, to house a local family.  Work 

actually began in the 1970s and progressed some way before other projects took 

over.  The builders were always about to return, but each time something more 

urgent would crop up elsewhere on the estate, and inevitably the empty building 

came last on the list.  An approach by the Landmark Trust in 1988 was therefore 

met with interest, a lease was agreed and the transfer took place early in 1990. 

 

At that time the Landmark Trust itself had more work than its officers could cope 

with.  It therefore took several months to agree the final proposals with the 

architects appointed to oversee the work, Arrol and Snell of Shrewsbury; and 

with English Heritage, which was to give a grant towards the cost of the repairs 

to the roof and the timber frame.  

 

Subjects for debate included the extent to which the brick panels would be taken 

out to repair the frame; and whether, if most were to come out, they should go 

back in again afterwards, or be replaced by lath and plaster, as would have been 

used originally.  Both practical and historical arguments argued for keeping the 

brick. 

 

Research showed that the gatehouse had been extensively restored and enlarged 

in the 1830s, as a school and teacher's cottage.  As a result it had acquired its 

rather picturesque ‘black and white’ appearance.  There was no point in trying to 

return to an earlier building which really did not exist any more - and which 

watercolours showed to have been half repaired in brick by the late 18th century 
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in any case.  Besides which, brick would give far better insulation in the large 

upper room, with its variety of outside surfaces.  

 

The arrangement inside fell easily into place, but there was some further debate 

over the finishing of the main room.  It was felt that the walls should not be left 

just as bare plaster, and panelling was suggested.  One idea was to base its 

design on the fragments of Jacobean carving used in the fireplace, and thereby to 

conjure up the manorial courtroom which the room may once have been.  

However, from 1836-1895, it had been a schoolroom, and some simple boarded 

panelling survived.  This seemed to suit its character much better - and was a 

great deal cheaper - and so this was the option chosen.  

 

All these details finalised, and the formalities settled, work could actually start.  

I.J. Preece and Son arrived on site in March, 1992.    

 

An outline history of the building   
 

In its recent abandonment the Bromfield gatehouse is typical of many other 

gatehouses, of which Shropshire has some fine examples.  It is also typical in its 

earlier history and its use and change of use over the centuries.  Historical 

research (in which a valuable helping hand was given by Dr David Cox of the 

Victoria History of Shropshire) and a new examination of the building during its 

restoration by Richard Morriss of the City of Hereford Archaeology Unit have 

helped to clarify the story, and we now have a reasonably accurate idea of what 

has happened and when. 

 

The lower, stone, part of the gatehouse formed the entrance to a small 

Benedictine priory whose main buildings are thought to have stood to the south 

of the present church of St Mary.  Although some authorities have suggested in 

the past that the timber-framed upper storey is also partly medieval, it is now 

generally agreed that it is a post-Reformation addition.  It might, however, replace 

an earlier upper storey. 
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A date in the 14th century had seemed most likely for the original gatehouse, and 

this has now been confirmed by Richard Morriss: 

The style of the arch, with its two-centred head and angle-roll, is a fairly 
common one and could date from the late 13th through to the mid-14th 
centuries - and later.  The ogee heads of the small gate-passage loops 
suggest a date from the early to mid 14th century when this motif was very 
popular.  The motif did, however, continue well beyond this date.  The 
possible effects of the Black Death on monastic building in this area from 
the 1340s onwards should also be taken into consideration, as well as the 
later apparent poverty of the priory itself.  All in all, a mid-14th century date 
seems likely. 

 

The two loops or narrow windows in the gate-passage show us that there were 

rooms on either side of the arch, as there are now.  One of these might have 

been for a porter, the other perhaps for storage.  It is impossible to say whether 

the gatehouse had an upper storey at this time.  There is evidence that the walls 

were once higher, but Richard Morriss suggests that there could have been a 

battlemented parapet.  There would also have been either a stone curtain wall, or 

a timber stockade, on either side of the gatehouse.  With this, and the two rivers 

(the Onny and the Teme) which join east of the church, forming a narrow 

promontory between them, the priory site was a very secure one. 

 

Bromfield Priory was dissolved in 1538, and its new owner, Charles Foxe, 

incorporated its buildings (including the chancel of the church) into a new house.  

The gatehouse continued its function of guarding the entrance to this, and before 

long it seems it was put to another use as well. 
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The Elizabethan Court House  
 

Richard Morriss points out one very obvious reason for thinking that the timber-

framed upper storey is later than the stonework beneath it:  it is shorter.  Until it 

was restored and enlarged in the 1830s, the upper storey only covered the 

northern two thirds of the building - the area of the main room.  A number of 

views and watercolours of the late 18th and early 19th century show that it 

ended only just to the south of the arch.  A close look at the frame itself also 

showed that the truss which now divides the main room from the bedroom 

beyond was once an end wall, matching the present north gable. On the other 

hand, we have seen that in its earliest form, the building had another room south 

of the gate-passage.  This must have been pulled down before the upper storey 

was added, although part of its west wall may have been left. 

 

From the overall design of the timber-framing, which is ‘fairly typical of 

Shropshire in the second half of the 16th century’, Richard Morriss judged the 

addition to be mid to late 16th century.  This would fit with the likely building of 

Charles Foxe's house.  Foxe leased the priory buildings from 1541 but only 

bought them in 1558.  Their remodelling probably belongs to the prosperous later 

decades of Queen Elizabeth's reign. 

 

Richard Morriss underlines some problems that this particular building presents, 

however.  In form it is what is called close-studded, the small upright timbers 

between the main posts being set closely together.  They are divided horizontally 

by a mid-rail, running the length of the building; and further support comes from 

diagonal down-braces which run from corner posts to the sill-plate, or lower 

horizontal timber.  So far, so good.  What is puzzling is that where the studs 

meet another timber, the joints are not properly pegged, as you would expect 

them to be, and as the joints of the main frame are, the pegs serving to 

strengthen the traditional mortice and tenon joint. 
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More curious still is the roof, visible in the main room.  Its trusses are ‘a most 

peculiar, not to say unique, design.’  Richard Morriss again:  

It is the two intermediate trusses that are so strange.  There are, and always 
have been, open.  They each consist of a very thick-scantling and cranked, 
rather than cambered, tie-beam given additional support by straight braces 
from the principal posts.  From the tie-beams angled struts rise to the soffit 
of each purlin, into which they are tenoned; the purlins are themselves 
trenched into the underside of the principal rafters;..Such a roof must have 
been difficult to build, as the purlins would have to be in place before the 
principal rafters; the conventional raising of a complete truss would have 
been impossible. 

 

In conclusion, and taking both these oddities together, ‘the very fact that the 

construction is so unusual is enough to add doubt to any suggested dating of the 

fabric, as it simply does not seem to have any regional precedent.’ 

 

Such misgivings apart, it is likely that the new room over the gate existed by 

1600 and that the building as a whole then looked very much the same as that 

shown in the watercolours of two centuries later.  It had a slightly flatter-pitched, 

probably stone-tiled, roof, two windows on the west elevation at least, and no 

chimney.  Inside, there was just one room on the upper floor, and it seems likely 

that this was reached to begin with by an outside stair leading to a door in the 

north-east corner.  To the north of the gate-passage there was originally just one 

tall room, with no stair or ceiling. 

 

What was this remodelled gatehouse for?  One reason for it was undoubtedly to 

impress.  The building of ornamental gatehouses of varying degrees of elaboration 

began in the early Tudor period, and the practice was still going strong among the 

country gentlemen of Shropshire and neighbouring counties a century and more 

later.  One of the most spectacular examples, entirely in stone, is the Landmark 

Trust’s Tixall Gatehouse, near Stafford, of about 1580.  Nearer to Bromfield there 

are others of more traditional build, the timber-framed gatehouse at Stokesay 

Castle of about 1620, and another Landmark, Langley Gatehouse, rebuilt about 

1610, stone one side and timber the other.  
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There were obvious practical reasons, as well, in having the entrance to your 

property watched over, even in relatively peaceful days - a function which was 

continued in the lodges of the Georgian age and later.  And a good strong gate 

could be closed in time of unrest, as it may have been at Bromfield during the 

Civil War, when Richard Morriss suggests the triangular holes, probably for 

muskets, were cut in the doors. 

 

At the same time, no one put up a large building intending to leave it empty - 

even if that is what often seems to have happened after a while.  Gatehouses 

were used for a variety of practical purposes.  Some contained lodgings, 

providing extra accommodation for the household or for visitors.  Sometimes, in a 

large household, this might be combined with the office of a household official, 

for whom it was helpful to see the comings and goings below.  In other cases, as 

here, there is no evidence that the upper floor or floors were ever domestic, but 

had some more public function.  Most often, especially if there was a single large 

room, this was as a courtroom. 

 

The system of manorial justice provided a useful method of solving local disputes, 

usually over property, without going any further.  It was also relatively profitable 

for the lord of the manor, since the punishment was generally in the form of a 

fine.  Records exist for manor courts at Bromfield until 1770, and according to 

tradition, these were held in the gatehouse.  
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Picturesque decay 
 

By the end of the 18th century, the gatehouse was beginning to look a little 

battered.  By then, the northern end had probably been floored in to make the 

existing two low rooms, presumably for storage, with a stair to the main upper 

room.  Repairs had been carried out to the timber frame, replacing lath and 

plaster with brick in the lower panels.  If it really had been the manorial 

courtroom, this use ended in 1770, and the building was probably left empty and 

neglected thereafter. 

 

Curiously, it seems still to have functioned as a gatehouse.  The tradition is that 

Charles Foxe's new Bromfield Priory perished in a fire in the 17th century and 

was afterwards abandoned, leaving just the fragments that stand on the south 

side of the church.  His heir, Richard Herbert, reunited the chancel with the nave 

of the church in 1658, and commissioned its delightful painted ceiling in 1672. 

 

It could well be that there continued to be a house of some sort among the priory 

ruins thereafter, even if it was let to a tenant, or housed a farm steward.  This is 

supported by Roque's map of 1752, which has the words ‘Onny Hall’ printed 

near the gatehouse, possibly referring to the priory's successor. Meanwhile, the 

Herberts used Oakly Park, a former hunting lodge to Ludlow Castle.  This was 

enlarged about 1750 by William Baker, and further remodelled for Lord Clive (of 

India) by Edward Haycock in the 1780s, before its final transformation in the 

1820s and '30s by C.R. Cockerell.  

 

The road that now runs past the front of the gatehouse, and over the apparently 

18th-century bridge over the Teme, is effectively the drive to Oakly Park.  

However, watercolours by the Rev Edward Williams and Richard Canning of 1790 

and 1796 show a wall running at right angles to the front of the gatehouse, 

south of the archway, and blocking the road. 
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Rev. Edward Williams, 1790 

 

 
 
 

Richard Canning, 1796 
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Traffic for Oakly and the farms beyond must therefore have passed through the 

gatehouse.  The road would then have had to turn right and right again round it, 

in a sharp and awkward bend, to reach the bridge.  An alternative might be that 

the road was simply set further back from the gatehouse, where it does not show 

in the views.  It would then have passed through what is now the garden of 

Bromfield Manor, the 19th-century vicarage. 

 

The gently decaying gatehouse was clearly a popular subject for watercolourists 

and topographical artists, from the number of views that exist. It was to remain 

in this state until 1836 when, as part of a general round of improvement in the 

village, it was thoroughly restored. 
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From Shrewsbury, Local Studies Library, engraving no. B86.  Undated

From Gentleman’s Magazine, 1816, pt.II 
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Shrewsbury, Local Studies Library, J.H. Smith collection, no 252.  J.H. 
Smith flourished 1822-64. 

Shrewsbury, Local Studies Library, J.H. Smith collection, no 203 
(collection of Mrs Frances Stackhouse-Acton, d.1874), f. 6.  Artist 

and date unknown. 



                                                        Bromfield Priory Gatehouse History Album 

20 

 
 
 
 
 
  



                                                        Bromfield Priory Gatehouse History Album 

21 

The Victorian school 

 

In 1836, the gatehouse became the village school, and it seems reasonable to 

assume that it was restored and enlarged with this purpose in mind.  The work 

was done carefully, in a historical manner; for example, Richard Morriss points 

out how the new first floor window on the churchyard side was inserted level 

with a window north of the arch, although this means that it comes very close to 

the floor in the bedroom.  The new timber framing also follows the general design 

of the old, which was extensively repaired at the same time, particularly on the 

east side.  The roof was renewed, although many of the old rafters were reused, 

turned the other way up. 

 

Furthermore, the cottage at the south end is of roughly the same proportion as 

the medieval porter's lodge on the south side of the gate-passage, which thus 

became central once again.  The symmetry of the building was emphasised by 

the new oriel window on the west, although to make this, one of the main posts 

of the frame had to be cut away, and the roof truss above supported on a heavy 

lintel and two new posts.  

 

Finishing touches were provided by bargeboards and gable finials, latticed 

windows, and by the new brick chimney.  Such details were clearly in favour 

with the estate's owner of that date, Robert Henry Clive, or more probably his 

agent.  Other buildings in the village are in a similar style, such as the row of 

cottages dated 1848, the Vicarage, there by the 1840s, and the disused mill on 

the south bank of the Teme, extended in 1826 to designs of an as yet 

unidentified ‘D W.’ 

 

Inside, the main room, which was to be the schoolroom, was given a new 

fireplace cleverly assembled from a variety of fragments of Jacobean, and later, 

carving.  The two large cupboards may date from the same time, for storing 

school books.  They too are cobbled together from fragments, one of which bears  
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the surprisingly late date of 1681.  However, in 1988, the cupboard on the right, 

although fixed to the wall, blocked the door which has now been reopened, and 

which certainly existed while the building operated as a school.  It may, 

therefore, have arrived in the building at a later date, or was moved from another 

position.  To prevent draughts coming through the floor, the elm floorboards are 

steel-tongued, providing a closer and tighter fit. 

 

The children arrived in the classroom by stairs at the north end, perhaps having 

left their coats in the low room on the first floor.  On the top floor of the new 

south end, where there are now two rooms, there was in 1871 just one, a 

classroom, perhaps for older children.  The two floors below were the teacher's 

accommodation, a living room cum kitchen on the ground floor and, presumably, 

a bedroom above. 

 

Detailed information about the school comes from a public inspector's report of 

1871, accompanied by a sketch plan showing its arrangement.  The proportions 

of the rooms were noted (the schoolroom 36 ft. by 21 ft. and open to the roof, 

the classroom 12 ft. by 21 ft.), as was the fact that the teacher had a living room 

at the south end on the ground floor.  Boys, girls and infants were all taught 

together, with an average attendance of 50.  Each child paid 2d. a week, but the 

fourth child in any family went free.  A night school was held in winter.  The 

principal teacher, Miss Fanny Mitchell, received £25 a year from the Lord 

Windsor's trustees, plus half the school pence and free accommodation, firewood 

and coal.  There were two other teachers, who lived out, presumably in the 

village.  The plan shows earth closets for boys and girls, and a wash house in the 

little yard at the south end.  

 

One pupil at the school was Elizabeth Good, born 1855, the eldest daughter of 

Edmund Good, the estate gamekeeper, who lived in Cockerell's lodge to Oakly 

Park.  Her great-grandaughter, Miss P.K. Crimmin, generously gave a donation 

towards the restoration costs of the gatehouse as a commemoration of her great-
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grandmother's school attendance, and as a memorial to her own mother, brought 

up by her grandmother on tales of the Bromfield of her childhood. 

 

In 1895, Lord Windsor built a new school in the village.  The south end was 

made into a separate cottage, by blocking the door on the top floor.  It had two 

bedrooms on the top floor, with a sitting room, or another bedroom on the first 

floor, and a kitchen on the ground floor. 

 

Kelly's Directory of Shropshire of 1900 tells us that the schoolroom had become 

a parish reading room, open from 6pm to 9pm during the winter, and with 35 

subscribing members.  Later directories describe it as a parish hall (1929) or as a 

recreation and reading room (1941).  It had a billiard table in it, which was used 

by the present Lord Plymouth and his friends when he came to live at Oakly Park 

in the 1950s.  In the early 1970s the gatehouse was still used by the youth club, 

and for meetings of the St John's Ambulance, but less and less often.  To all 

intents and purposes, the building had once again reached a hiatus in its 

existence, and was awaiting another change of use.  

 

 

Charlotte Haslam 

March 1993 
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Readers of our logbooks will be interested to discover two entries from November 

1996 and April 1998, written by descendants of the Baker family who lived in 

the cottage on the south side of the building from 1894 until 1967.  The 

additional two articles from Country Quest magazine provide further details about 

life at the gatehouse in the early part of the 20th century.   

 

 

 

 

National Monuments Record 
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The plan that accompanied the inspector’s report of 1871, 
 showing the school at that date  
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National Monuments Record 
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Photographs of the Gatehouse in 1989, before repair 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 



                                                        Bromfield Priory Gatehouse History Album 

28 

 

 
 
 
 



                                                        Bromfield Priory Gatehouse History Album 

29 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 



                                                        Bromfield Priory Gatehouse History Album 

30 

 

 
 

Looking south (above) and north (below) 
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The middle bedroom 
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The top bedroom 
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Articles from Country Quest magazine  
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